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          2                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: We're going to get

          3  this hearing started. Thank you all for joining us

          4  today. My name is Christine Quinn. I'm Chair of the

          5  Health Committee, and we're having a joint hearing

          6  today of the Committee on Health and the Committee

          7  on Small Business, which is chaired by my colleague

          8  Domenic Recchia.

          9                 We're having a hearing today on

         10  Intro. No. 396, which is a piece of legislation

         11  introduced by Council Member Fidler, the Speaker and

         12  many other members of the City Council.

         13                 The bill 396 attempts to deal with a

         14  problem that exists in our City, candy that is being

         15  sold at bodegas and other mostly small businesses

         16  and small candy and other establishments, candy

         17  that's imported from other countries which has lead

         18  and other potentially poisonous chemicals and

         19  contaminants in the candy.

         20                 There have been other parts of the

         21  country that have sought to prohibit the sale of

         22  those candies in an attempt to protect children from

         23  the damaging affects that they can have and we are

         24  hoping to further that effort to protect children in

         25  the City.
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          2                 As we all know, a year or so ago we

          3  had a long and heated debate about how to protect

          4  children from lead paint poisoning, and we feel it's

          5  important to continue our effort to protect children

          6  from lead and other poisonous and contaminating

          7  chemicals and this bill is another step in that

          8  process.

          9                 I am now going to turn the mic over

         10  to Chairperson Recchia, the Chair of our Small

         11  Business Committee. We'll then hear from Council

         12  Member Fidler and a panel of folks from the

         13  Department of Health and Mental Hygiene.

         14                 I want to say we've also been joined

         15  by a member of our Committee, Council Member Kendall

         16  Stewart, from Brooklyn. And there are, since we go

         17  out of session for the holidays tomorrow for a

         18  couple of weeks, two weeks or so, there is a frenzy

         19  of committees getting in their last minute work

         20  today, so people will be in and out because there's

         21  literally four or five hearings going on as we

         22  speak.

         23                 So, please don't take any disrespect

         24  if people come in and out.

         25                 Chairperson Recchia.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA: Yes, good

          3  afternoon. My name is Domenic Recchia. I am Chairman

          4  of the Small Business Committee, and I'm delighted

          5  to hold this hearing with my colleague Christine

          6  Quinn on Intro. 396, which was introduced by my

          7  colleague Council Member Lewis Fidler, sitting here

          8  to my right.

          9                 I'm not going to go into the dangers

         10  of lead to children, since this Council has led the

         11  fight in that respect over the past two years. What

         12  we must do now is identify other areas where lead

         13  poisoning might take place and see how we can

         14  minimize the risk for children.

         15                 Council Member Fidler's bill, Intro.

         16  396, looks to restrict the sale of candy that

         17  contains lead.

         18                 Many of these candies are sold at

         19  small convenience stores and bodegas throughout New

         20  York City. It is important that we carefully

         21  identify which candies contain lead-based

         22  ingredients and remove them from the shelves of our

         23  small businesses.

         24                 While there may be questions of our

         25  authority to impose such legislation, that is a
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          2  question to be answered in our later date.

          3                 Our primary concern as a body, the

          4  City Council is to remove and reduce the danger of

          5  lead poisoning for the people, especially the

          6  children of the City of New York.

          7                 I look forward to working with my

          8  colleagues on this issue. And just to bring it to

          9  your attention, we are not here to hurt the small

         10  businesses, but we are here to help the small

         11  businesses, to protect them in order that they can

         12  prosper, but most importantly protect the people of

         13  their community.

         14                 Thank you.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Council Member

         16  Fidler.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: Thank you. And

         18  I want to thank Chairpersons Quinn and Recchia, for

         19  scheduling this hearing today on Intro. 396. And as

         20  Chairperson Quinn mentioned, while I am the prime

         21  sponsor of this bill, this bill now has 50 sponsors

         22  amongst 51 Council members. So, I think it's a

         23  concern that each and every one of has. What mother

         24  or father would knowingly serve lead poisoning to

         25  their child in a candy wrapper. I think that is what
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          2  this bill is about.

          3                 I am sure that no one would do that

          4  knowingly. And the problem is that it is happening

          5  every day in communities throughout the City of New

          6  York, particularly in our Latino communities.

          7                 Why would anyone bring litargirio

          8  home? A substance that has scientifically been

          9  proven to do absolutely nothing. It is not an

         10  effective deodorant, it is not an effective fungus

         11  powder. It does not serve as a topical wound

         12  treatment in any beneficial way, yet it can contain

         13  as much as 79 percent of lead content. Why would

         14  anyone bring that powder home, let it become

         15  airborne and affect their child?

         16                 The affects of lead poisoning on

         17  children are well documented, don't even need to be

         18  discussed here.

         19                 We've gone to great lengths to

         20  eliminate lead paint from our communities. We need

         21  to find and root out the other causes of lead

         22  poisoning for our children in this City. There is no

         23  question that there are children. How many we don't

         24  know, but there is no question there are children in

         25  this City who are being affected by these candies,
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          2  and by litargirio, they are unnecessary and we need

          3  to root it out. And that's what this bill does, and

          4  hopefully we will be able to move quickly to passing

          5  this bill and working with the Administration,

          6  hopefully they will sign it and enforce it, to

          7  protect as many children in our City as quickly as

          8  we possibly can.

          9                 Thank you, Chairwoman Quinn and

         10  Chairman Recchia.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Thank you. And you

         12  should try harder to get support on your bill, Lew.

         13                 The first group of folks we're going

         14  to hear from are folks from the Department of Health

         15  and Mental Hygiene.

         16                 We're going to have Commissioner

         17  Jessica Leighton and Deborah Nagin from DOH.

         18                 I like to refer to it by our hearing

         19  room by IKEA. It reminds me as we've gone to

         20  Elizabeth and bought it.

         21                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER LEIGHTON: Good

         22  afternoon, Chairpersons Quinn and Recchia and

         23  Council members. I'm Jessica Leighton, Assistant

         24  Commissioner for Environmental Disease Prevention at

         25  the Department of Health and Mental Hygiene. With me
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          2  today is Deborah Nagin, Director of the Department's

          3  Lead Poisoning Prevention Program. Also with us

          4  today is Andrew Eiler, from the Department of

          5  Consumer Affairs.

          6                 I'd like to thank you for the

          7  opportunity to address Intro. 396, and the problem

          8  of lead contaminated food and other products.

          9                 Childhood lead poisoning remains a

         10  serious but preventable problem in New York City. In

         11  2003 there were 4,234 children less than 18 years of

         12  age in New York City with blood lead levels of ten

         13  micrograms per deciliter or greater. Lead paint and

         14  lead dust in housing remain the primary sources of

         15  lead poisoning in children. For the 587 children for

         16  whom we conducted environmental investigations, we

         17  found lead paint hazards in 65 percent of their

         18  homes or other locations that they regularly

         19  visited. But for another 35 percent, no lead paint

         20  violations were found.

         21                 While the sources for these 35

         22  percent may be unidentified lead paint hazards,

         23  there are numerous other potential sources that need

         24  to be addressed.

         25                 Moreover, even for children with lead
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          2  paint hazards in their homes, other sources may be

          3  contributing to or causing their elevated blood lead

          4  levels.

          5                 These include contaminated foods and

          6  spices, contaminated jewelry, lead glazed pottery,

          7  contaminated cosmetics, traditional medicines,

          8  contaminated soil, occupational exposures and

          9  prenatal exposures.

         10                 Over the last few years, the

         11  Department has become increasingly concerned about

         12  these other potential sources. We've thus embarked

         13  on a number of projects to address these potential

         14  hazards.

         15                 For example, on November 5th of 2003,

         16  the Department issued a health alert about

         17  Litargirio, which is a traditional remedy used as a

         18  deodorant/antiperspirant and to treat foot fungus

         19  and burns. Litargirio has been sold in botanicas and

         20  used primarily in the Dominican community.

         21  Accidental swallowing or breathing of the Litargirio

         22  powder can cause lead poisoning. Litargirio is an

         23  industrial chemical. It is used in the manufacture

         24  of batteries, glass and ceramics. It is not intended

         25  for personal use.
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          2                 Our Health Department staff visited

          3  eight botanicas in Upper Manhattan and the Bronx;

          4  five sold the product. One sample contained 40

          5  percent lead. The Health Department sent letters to

          6  botanicas throughout New York City to alert them

          7  about this health hazard and to urge store owners to

          8  remove the product from their shelves.

          9                 Warning signs were provided. The

         10  Health Department also worked with community-based

         11  organizations serving the Dominican community to

         12  educate families about the danger of the product.

         13                 Also, in terms of imported candy, the

         14  Health Department had issued a health advisory in

         15  August of this year, warning New Yorkers about the

         16  possible dangers of eating imported candies and

         17  snack products from Mexico.

         18                 The alert was promoted by a joint

         19  investigation of the Health Department and the New

         20  York City Department of Agriculture and Markets,

         21  along with prior alerts by the US Food and Drug

         22  Administration or FDA.

         23                 Our investigation found that imported

         24  candies and snack products from Mexico, including

         25  chili-containing lollypops, salted snack foods, and
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          2  snack powders, as well as tamarind candies were

          3  widely available in certain neighborhoods.

          4                 Many of the products found had been

          5  identified by the FDA as potentially contaminated

          6  with lead.

          7                 Preliminary laboratory results showed

          8  possible lead contamination. The Health Department

          9  requested the assistance of the New York State

         10  Department of Agriculture and Markets, to expand the

         11  evaluation of the candy products and the control of

         12  the product at the wholesale markets.

         13                 Your evaluation showed that of the 42

         14  candies tested, one exceeded the FDA's guidelines of

         15  0.5 parts per million.

         16                 The one product was produced by Lucas

         17  Corporation. The Lucas Corporation had recently

         18  voluntarily withdrawn its candy products because of

         19  potential lead contamination. And as a result, in

         20  our follow-up investigations with Ag & Markets of

         21  large New York City distributors of Lucas products,

         22  Ag & Markets was unable to find Lucas candies.

         23  Therefore, no regulatory action was taken.

         24                 Other activities include:

         25                 - meeting with Mexican candy
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          2  companies and associations to discuss our concerns

          3  about lead contamination candies, and to learn about

          4  their plans to improve the production process so

          5  that contamination does not occur.

          6                 - we've also worked with the FDA, the

          7  Consumer Products Safety Commission, the Centers for

          8  Disease Control and Prevention, and other local

          9  State Health Departments to communicate our specific

         10  concerns, and to build collaborations about this

         11  problem, as well as to understand efforts occurring

         12  at the Federal level to prevent contaminated

         13  products from coming over the border.

         14                 - educating families, especially

         15  those in immigrant communities, about the potential

         16  dangers of lead contaminated products for children

         17  and pregnant women is something else that we've been

         18  working on.

         19                 Our investigations illustrate the

         20  fact that food protection and safety is an issue

         21  that involves actions by and collaboration among

         22  many levels of government.

         23                 Ultimately, the solution is to stop

         24  products from entering the country unless they meet

         25  FDA requirements and are safe for consumption.
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          2                 Collaboration is also necessary with

          3  the State Department of Agriculture and Markets to

          4  address sale of these products at the wholesale

          5  level so they do not get distributed to retailers.

          6                 Such collaborative measures are a

          7  more efficient way to eliminate these products from

          8  the market.

          9                 DOHMH supports the aims of Intro.

         10  396. Currently, we have the authority under sections

         11  3.03 and 71.11 of the New York City Health Code to

         12  "...seize, embargo, or condemn..." Foods or drugs

         13  that are "...unfit for consumption or use, or

         14  adulterated...", and we have relied on these

         15  existing provisions in the past.

         16                 Operationally, however, the issue is

         17  complicated, and we would like to work with the

         18  Council on modifications to make Intro. 396 more

         19  efficient and effective. Specifically, we'd like to

         20  address: definition of excessive amounts of lead in

         21  a product; the potential ban of "litargirio" for

         22  personal use; some enforcement issues, as well as

         23  some of the implementation date issues.

         24                 The proposed legislation defines

         25  "Food products containing lead" as any "food or
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          2  candy having a lead content which has been

          3  determined to be excessive pursuant to rules

          4  promulgated by the department."

          5                 The determination of "excessive"

          6  amounts of a contaminant in foods is a complicated

          7  process. It requires an understanding of product

          8  consumption, the biological absorption of the

          9  substance and other factors.

         10                 The FDA, in consultation with other

         11  federal agencies, has the responsibility and

         12  expertise to establish standards and guidelines for

         13  food and consumer product safety.

         14                 Moreover, testing for lead in food or

         15  other products is complex and poorly standardized.

         16  And our understanding is the FDA is working to

         17  develop guidance, as well as standardize procedures

         18  to conduct such testing.

         19                 Many of the guidelines used by the

         20  FDA are based on the Food Chemicals Codex, also

         21  known as the FCC, specifications. The FCC is a

         22  compendium published by the Food and Nutrition Board

         23  of the Institute of Medicine, with part of the

         24  National Academy of Sciences.

         25                 For example, in the case of lead in
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          2  candies, the FDA guideline is 0.5 parts per million,

          3  which was the FCC guideline for sucrose, which is

          4  the main ingredient in candy.

          5                 The FDA has been using lead levels

          6  exceeding 0.5 parts per million in a candy product

          7  as the level at which regulatory action can be

          8  taken.

          9                 The FDA has indicated that it intends

         10  to publish guidelines that will reduce its guidance

         11  level for considering enforcement action against

         12  candy products containing lead to reflect the new

         13  FCC specification for sucrose.

         14                 For litargirio, the Department

         15  believes that rather than requiring the Department

         16  to make a determination of "excessive" levels, this

         17  product should be banned for cosmetic or hygienic

         18  use.

         19                 As I mentioned earlier, litargirio is

         20  an industrial chemical used in the manufacture of

         21  batteries, glass and ceramics. It is not intended

         22  for personal use. I would like to point out that the

         23  banning of a product such as litargirio is

         24  complicated because this product is not only

         25  distributed in stores such as botanicas but also
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          2  distributed more informally when family members come

          3  to bring it from the Dominican Republic.

          4                 Successful banning of the product in

          5  New York city will require a combination of

          6  education and collaboration with the Dominican

          7  community, botanicas and others.

          8                 The enforcement of a bill such as

          9  Intro 396 requires planning. As we noted earlier,

         10  FDA plays a key role in monitoring and enforcement

         11  of laws around food safety. In New York State, the

         12  Department of Agriculture and Markets regulates food

         13  safety in supermarkets, and most bodegas and

         14  delicatessens. To ensure adequate enforcement, it is

         15  imperative to have planning and collaboration among

         16  multiple levels of government. Thus, appropriate

         17  language should be carefully crafted to reflect

         18  federal and state guidelines and standards.

         19                 At the City level, the Health Code

         20  gives the Department of Health and Mental Hygiene

         21  the clear authority to confiscate contaminated food

         22  products. As is currently done, the trigger that

         23  will begin an investigation is the identification of

         24  a product used by an individual with elevated blood

         25  lead levels or reports that a type of product may be
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          2  contaminated.

          3                 This could lead to laboratory

          4  analysis of the product, and if excessive, an

          5  investigation of stores that might sell the product

          6  to determine if the product is being sold.

          7                 If sold, these products could be

          8  further tested for contamination. If contaminated

          9  products are found, a referral then could be made to

         10  the Department of Consumer Affairs or to the New

         11  York State Department of Agriculture & Markets for

         12  further enforcement. And this is the type of work

         13  we've been doing.

         14                 While we have not had time to resolve

         15  all the issues and questions that are raised by the

         16  bill, we look forward to working with the Committee

         17  to produce a City law that will further strengthen

         18  the City's efforts to reduce exposure to lead

         19  contaminants.

         20                 Thank you for the opportunity to

         21  address and discuss Intro. 396, and we look forward

         22  to continuing to work with the Council toward the

         23  elimination of childhood lead poisoning in New York

         24  City. We would be very pleased to answer any

         25  questions you may have.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: We're going to

          3  start with Council Member Fidler because he has to

          4  go across the street to vote in another Committee.

          5  So, go ahead.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: I do apologize

          7  for jumping the line, but there are about 200 dog

          8  and cat owners across the street that would sick

          9  their animals on me if I didn't go over and vote.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: We're not going to

         11  make you eat lead candy, so go ahead.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: Well, you

         13  couldn't make me eat lead food.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: You might want

         15  to give it to the dogs and cats.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: I don't know

         17  whether to call you doctor or commissioner or doctor

         18  commissioner, what do you prefer?

         19                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER LEIGHTON:

         20  Whatever you want.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: Well, I

         22  appreciate your testimony on the bill, and I

         23  certainly, in drafting it we had hoped to give your

         24  agency the maximum flexibility. I know that I'm not

         25  an expert in lead or what should or shouldn't be in

                                                            20

          1  HEALTH AND SMALL BUSINESS

          2  candy, and we were trying to as much as possible

          3  defer to that expertise, and my prior authorship is

          4  certainly not in any way diminished if your

          5  Department provided detailed suggestions as to how

          6  to make this bill work more efficiently and

          7  effectively.

          8                 I know that lead shouldn't be in

          9  candy, and I agree with you completely with the sale

         10  of litargirio for any purpose should be unlawful. In

         11  fact, it was my anticipation that you would read the

         12  bill that way, a substance that has absolutely no

         13  beneficial purpose and contains high levels of lead

         14  that gets brought into homes, you know, and I don't

         15  really see education as the appropriate remedy. I

         16  see banning it as the appropriate remedy.

         17                 So, I will start by just saying that

         18  I would appreciate a quick response on the

         19  substantive changes because I do believe that the

         20  sooner we do this, the better. I think that the sale

         21  of these candies tends to escalate. I don't have

         22  statistics for it, but you know, I can only guess at

         23  holiday times these candies sell more, I would

         24  certainly think it would be a wonderful Easter

         25  present if we could have this bill passed and on the
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          2  books by Easter, which is the next major holiday

          3  season in these communities.

          4                 The one question that I would ask

          5  before I run across the street and vote and

          6  apologize to everybody who was here that I would

          7  love to hear from, is what educational efforts has

          8  DOH made thus far to reach out into communities, to

          9  let people know that these candies are in fact

         10  harmful to children?

         11                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER LEIGHTON: In

         12  August of this year we did issue alert of the

         13  candies. We've been doing some projects. We have a

         14  specific immigrant project that we go into

         15  communities where there are numerous immigrant. And

         16  candies are not the only problem. There are problems

         17  such as the use of medicines in some communities,

         18  use of make-up in some communities that is

         19  contaminated with lead. All of these issues that

         20  we're trying to address. And they affect often

         21  different immigrant communities. So, we've really

         22  been trying to target some of the problems to the

         23  appropriate immigrant communities.

         24                 We go into wick sites (phonetic) in

         25  different communities. We go work with
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          2  community-based organizations. We're released

          3  alerts. It takes, you know, a lot of community-based

          4  effort in working with I think the organizations in

          5  the community to really try to get the messages out.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: I appreciate

          7  that. But I think you understand that the issuance

          8  of an alert does very, very little to reach, you

          9  know, the homeowner or the parent. You know, it's

         10  kind of like driving past your friend's house and

         11  keeping the windows rolled up and saying you called

         12  for them. You know, I would appreciate a little bit

         13  more detail. You know, what actual outreach is being

         14  done, particularly on the lead candy and on

         15  litargirio?

         16                 MS. NAGIN: At the Department we're

         17  trying to --

         18                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: I'm sorry, can you

         19  identify yourself?

         20                 MS. NAGIN: I'm sorry.

         21                 It's Deborah Nagin, and I'm the

         22  Director of the Lead Poison Prevention Program.

         23                 We have, as Dr. Leighton said, we

         24  have been working with community organizations

         25  particularly surveying whether it be the Dominican
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          2  community or the Mexican community in areas of the

          3  City where we have the highest concentration of

          4  these communities to educate them. Not both about

          5  lead paint, but also about the potential exposures

          6  to contaminated Mexican candy, as an example.

          7                 And we're also trying to educate

          8  physicians that serve those populations so that when

          9  they work -- when patients come in, families come

         10  in, that they are also trying to both assess

         11  exposures but also educating their patients about

         12  those problems. And we've also integrated it into

         13  our educational materials, to make sure that it's a

         14  message that we're talking to people about.

         15                 It's a real priority that we're

         16  actually trying to also build upon.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: I would just

         18  suggest, and you know, I hate to cut and run, that

         19  the difficulty of having that message penetrate

         20  where it needs to, just speaks to the absolute great

         21  need for the timetable of passing this bill. Because

         22  I think prevention will be easier. Difficult as it

         23  is, particularly with litargirio, which isn't always

         24  sold through conventional means, but preventing it

         25  from being sold will be easier than educating
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          2  everybody as to not using it.

          3                 And, so, you know, on that parting

          4  note I would ask you, please, you know, let's not

          5  let this sit and wait, you know, much longer.

          6                 You know, we need to have your input

          7  on -- you know, I'm sure I speak for everyone here

          8  that we'd be happy to work with you on drafting

          9  language that your expertise tells us is necessary

         10  to address the issue, you know, with some finality,

         11  so we can get this bill passed and save some

         12  children.

         13                 MS. NAGIN: You know, I think in terms

         14  of the Mexican community, one example of what we're

         15  doing in Brooklyn, there's an organization called

         16  Uspaka (phonetic) that works with the Mexican

         17  community and really has very strong roots in that

         18  organization, and we're working to do a lot of

         19  education with both their staff, as well as members

         20  of that organization.

         21                 Recently we did -- there was a big

         22  celebration at that community center, and we did a

         23  lot of education with them. So, we're really trying

         24  to reach into the community and talk to them about

         25  it.
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          2                 I think one other, as well as

          3  organizations like Allianza Dominicana, related to

          4  litargirio, and I think one thing that's important

          5  to note about that is education is important along

          6  with regulatory efforts, because many times these

          7  products come into the country very informally.

          8  Grandmothers bring them across the border. And the

          9  educational efforts with those communities is pretty

         10  vital to get their supports and buy into this whole

         11  process so that we both don't have it in stores, as

         12  well as other ways that they're getting it, it's

         13  coming into family.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: I hear the

         15  dogs barking across the street, so I am going to

         16  run. I thank you for your testimony. I thank you

         17  both, Chairpeople, for today's hearing.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Just on the

         19  education front, Gelvina Stevenson, the Counsel to

         20  the Committee, noted to me that there's a lot of

         21  good info on your web page about lead in buildings,

         22  but not so much about lead in candies.

         23                 I mean, I hear definitely about more

         24  community-focused education with the community

         25  groups, but it might also just be helpful to update
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          2  the web page as well, particularly at this time of

          3  the year.

          4                 And also, we did a press conference

          5  before this, and there was actually good

          6  representation of a Spanish language media there.

          7  So, probably if people then go looking for it, it

          8  would be helpful.

          9                 As we move forward and could discuss

         10  this piece of legislation, what might be an

         11  implementation date that you think is reasonable?

         12                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER LEIGHTON: A

         13  reflective date of the law or the day of enactment

         14  of the law, effective date?

         15                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Yes.

         16                 I mean, you don't know, not saying

         17  when you think we should have a hearing and vote on

         18  it. A point, passed the point of it being voted, I'm

         19  assuming a scenario where it's being signed, et

         20  cetera, then how many days after that point, or

         21  months after that point or whatever, do you think

         22  the Department would need to be ready to go?

         23                 I'm not going to hold you to this,

         24  but just to give us a working range, so we know what

         25  we're looking at.

                                                            27

          1  HEALTH AND SMALL BUSINESS

          2                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER LEIGHTON: One

          3  thing I know is that if we do in any way have to

          4  make Health Code amendments, which is our

          5  regulations, the way we make regulations. It's a

          6  six-month process at least. So, that does take

          7  awhile to do.

          8                 We also need to be working with FDA

          9  and Ag & Markets, and we've been working with them a

         10  lot over the last number of months, but we need to

         11  make sure that they're in the same boat as we are.

         12  If we want to do referrals to either of them to like

         13  stop a product at the market, or stop at the border,

         14  or really deal with the wholesalers on this, we need

         15  to make sure all the pieces are in place to make

         16  sure that happens.

         17                 Things can become effective.  Whether

         18  the actual whole processes can happen in an ideal

         19  way we want it may take a little longer. We've

         20  already been doing this with Ag & Markets and we've

         21  been talking to FDA. So, it's on its way and there's

         22  a lot of pressure on FDA right now, not only from us

         23  but from California, from Chicago, from Milwaukee

         24  because we're all in the same position. So we're all

         25  trying to apply some pressure to FDA to really be
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          2  paying attention to this issue.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Speaking of the

          4  FDA, you reference in your testimony the issue of

          5  the 0.5 versus the 0.1. One of the concerns in

          6  drafting this bill, and the reason we made it 0.1

          7  versus 0.5 is who knows when the FDA will finish

          8  making a decision, and it's seems like the wiser

          9  thing to do to somewhat go with the 0.1.

         10                 Recognizing that controlling the FDA

         11  is something far beyond any of our ability, would

         12  you still remain in objection to it being 0.1 versus

         13  0.5?

         14                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER LEIGHTON: The

         15  thing that I guess we would be concerned about is

         16  they will take, they, and Ag & Markets, will take

         17  enforcement action at a level that they consider an

         18  enforceable level, which is their guidelines. Which

         19  at this point sucrose I believe is 0.1, for candy

         20  it's still at 0.5. They're planning on changing it,

         21  but I don't think they will take regulatory action

         22  at the level of 0.1 now. It sounds to us like that's

         23  going to happen soon.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Yes.

         25                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER LEIGHTON: But
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          2  I'm not sure when it's going to happen.

          3                 And the other thing I want to point

          4  out is while they're guidelines -- these are not

          5  standards, these are guidelines, as my understanding

          6  is, while we see them for sucrose, they're not

          7  available for all food products, clearly lead.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Yes.

          9                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER LEIGHTON: So

         10  this bill addresses food products, it's not

         11  necessarily so easy to come up with the guidelines

         12  for other food products, and we really look to FDA

         13  and the federal government to come up with those

         14  guidelines. We don't do that ourselves.

         15                 So, you know, that's a whole other

         16  issue that we really need to address.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Yes.

         18                 I just want to say we've been joined

         19  by Council Member Annabel Palma of the Bronx, and

         20  Council Member Simcha Felder of Brooklyn. And as

         21  representatives of the Department of Health, you

         22  will be happy to know that at our recent press

         23  conference on this issue across the street, Council

         24  Member Felder was the only male Council member who

         25  was tough enough to know he should have put a coat
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          2  on when it's outside in the cold. Only person.

          3  Domenic was out there without a coat, and I'm sure

          4  he will have a cold, and Mrs. Recchia will be upset.

          5  But that will not be the case in the Felder

          6  household. As the Health Chair, I think it's

          7  important to note this.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: I know you're

          9  making fun of me.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: But you asked me

         11  to.

         12                 Chairperson Recchia.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Yes, good

         14  afternoon. I have a number of questions on this

         15  issue.

         16                 One, before coming here today, did

         17  you, or anyone from your staff, read the Orange

         18  County Register Report on this issue?

         19                 Yes?

         20                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER LEIGHTON: I'm

         21  not sure which reports. We've read a lot of reports.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: The 6 series.

         23  It's the 6 series. Six parts.

         24                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER LEIGHTON: Oh,

         25  yes. Yes. Awhile ago I read that. That was the
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          2  chili, right? Is that what you're referring to?

          3                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Yes, with the

          4  chili, with the tomino, with everything on this. You

          5  read it, right?

          6                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER LEIGHTON: Yes.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Okay.

          8                 In that report it says that they

          9  tested these candies stating that the repeated tests

         10  have shown high levels of lead in the candies from

         11  Mexico, which can cause damage to children. And in

         12  your testimony today, you come here and say that

         13  preliminary lab results show a possible lead

         14  contamination, and that your studies show they

         15  tested 42 candies, and only one exceeded the

         16  guideline. I've got a problem with that.

         17                 So, are you saying what they did in

         18  California with their testing is incorrect?

         19                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER LEIGHTON: Not

         20  at all.

         21                 I mean, there are a number --

         22                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Well, I've got a

         23  problem with that. Go ahead.

         24                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER LEIGHTON: No,

         25  there are a number of issues. One is that sometimes
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          2  candies get contaminated in batches. They don't

          3  necessarily -- the lead doesn't get intentionally

          4  put into these candies. It's like food can get

          5  contaminated, but it all doesn't necessarily get

          6  contaminated.

          7                 When you test a batch of candies, or

          8  even one candy, you may not see it in that one

          9  candy. You may see it in another candy or in another

         10  batch of candies. It's a very different thing.

         11                 The analyses that were done in

         12  California were done awhile ago, and one thing that

         13  we did say is that Lucas company was working because

         14  there was a lot of pressure on them in California to

         15  recall a number of their products, and they did

         16  this, and hopefully we're not getting as much candy

         17  with lead in it.

         18                 It doesn't mean that every -- we may

         19  not be getting the batches of candy or the types of

         20  candy that they're getting in California.

         21                 So, we have different markets,

         22  although we do know that some of the candy that we

         23  got was the same type of candy, same types of

         24  lollipops that they had out there.

         25                 So, there are a lot of reasons. You

                                                            33

          1  HEALTH AND SMALL BUSINESS

          2  know, just because one piece of candy has lead in

          3  it, it doesn't mean all of them have lead in them.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: But if they're

          5  made in Mexico and there is tomino in it, which can

          6  cause brain damage because of the lead in it, all

          7  right? That is put into the candy, correct?

          8                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER LEIGHTON: It's

          9  not put into the candy by the company. It's

         10  something that --

         11                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: It's

         12  contaminated.

         13                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER LEIGHTON: Like

         14  what happened with that with the chili, it gets

         15  contaminated through the process. It's not like they

         16  say, oh, we're going to put lead in this candy

         17  because it's going to make it sweeter.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Right.

         19                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER LEIGHTON:

         20  What's happening is when they process the chili, or

         21  when they put it through certain machines it can get

         22  contaminated.

         23                 The same thing happens with maple

         24  syrup. There have been cases, for example, of maple

         25  syrup, because they use, the type of bins that they
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          2  use to process the maple syrup in can sometimes

          3  contaminate the maple syrup. New York State has made

          4  guidelines for the amounts of lead that should be in

          5  maple syrup.

          6                 So, it's not that anyone is

          7  intentionally putting that lead in maple syrup, it

          8  gets contaminated by, you know, maybe that day the

          9  processes they were using, the chili was coming from

         10  a certain factory that the processing was bad, while

         11  chili came from another factory and the processing

         12  was not contaminated.

         13                 So, just because we see lead in one

         14  candy, it does not mean we're going to see it in all

         15  candy. Just like our water in New York City. Just

         16  because one faucet may have --

         17                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: There are

         18  certain candies that the batches are contaminated.

         19                 I mean, when you point out with this

         20  Lucas Corporation with their candies, okay, they're

         21  known to be contaminated with lead. So, obviously,

         22  they're not doing something right.

         23                 MS. NAGIN: I think what we know is

         24  that when FDA tests all the products to get a sense

         25  of contamination, they test huge quantities of a
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          2  product, to kind of get an idea is there a product

          3  across a whole lot or product line. And there are

          4  clearly some companies, Lucus is one of them, which

          5  need to clean up their process, not only with their

          6  drying chilis that go into candy, and the whole

          7  production process. I think what the sampling has

          8  shown is that not, as Dr. Leighton has said, when

          9  you test all of these candies across the board, you

         10  might not get all contamination in all of these

         11  samples.

         12                 So, the testing process is

         13  complicated because of that. And I think that one of

         14  the things that FDA is trying to get for everybody

         15  is a better way to do testing that gives us more

         16  definitive information.

         17                 But basically, yes, when we did

         18  testing some of the products were contaminated, and

         19  some of them weren't.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Doctor, you said

         21  something, you said New York State -- with the maple

         22  syrup --

         23                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER LEIGHTON: Yes.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: They implemented

         25  their own guidelines?
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          2                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER LEIGHTON: You

          3  know, I'm not sure if they're regulations or

          4  guidelines. We'll look more into that. But, yes.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: They did, okay.

          6                 Well, if we did it for the maple

          7  syrup, I think then we have to do something for this

          8  candy coming in from Mexico.

          9                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER LEIGHTON: I'm

         10  not objecting.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: No, no. I want

         12  to bring it to the point that we're at the

         13  forefront, as we have to see action and take it,

         14  because we want to prevent as many children getting

         15  damaged.

         16                 Now, you brought with you somebody

         17  from Consumer Affairs today, right?

         18                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER LEIGHTON:

         19  That's correct.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: One issue that

         21  has not been discussed, I have some candy here,

         22  okay? And you know what bothers me about this candy?

         23  It's that from the candy, the packaging that could

         24  be contaminated, all right? This wrapper, all right,

         25  is not preventive enough for children. And what I
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          2  mean by that is that the lead could come out from

          3  this candy because there is no preventive wrapper on

          4  it. And I think that what we have to do is tell, if,

          5  you know, look at the wrapping on candies, and they

          6  have to do a better job of wrapping it because

          7  somebody could take this and tear it off. This could

          8  be containing parcels of lead in it, and the wrapper

          9  could just go away, and somebody could just pick it

         10  up and lick it. You see what I'm trying to say?

         11                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER LEIGHTON: Not

         12  completely. But I think the most important thing

         13  that you're saying is that we shouldn't have lead in

         14  our candy --

         15                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Right, the

         16  wrapper. Also I'm saying the way products are

         17  wrapped and imported to us, I think we need to make

         18  it clear that you cannot, you know, just put a

         19  plastic wrapper on this candy that may or can

         20  contain lead particles. You understand what I'm

         21  saying?

         22                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER LEIGHTON:

         23  There should not be, right.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: That's right.

         25  What could Consumer Affairs do about it.
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          2                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER LEIGHTON:

          3  Changing the way candies are wrapped?

          4                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Yes. You're

          5  looking puzzled by this.

          6                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER LEIGHTON: Are

          7  you --

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: I'm also

          9  puzzled.

         10                 Can I interrupt?

         11                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Yes.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: I don't

         13  understand this. The issue is that we're trying to

         14  get the lead away, right? We don't want people -- if

         15  we're trying to get rid of the lead, then obviously

         16  we're trying to get rid of the wrapped, you know,

         17  the powder, whatever else.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Right.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: So, unless

         20  you're saying that if we can't get rid of the lead,

         21  at a minimum we should make sure that the wrapping

         22  is such that it doesn't splatter all over the place.

         23  That's the only thing that would make sense. Is that

         24  what you're saying?

         25                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Yes. They just
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          2  testified that some batches are going to contain

          3  lead particles, correct? Some batches?

          4                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER LEIGHTON: We

          5  should prevent that from happening all together.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Right. All

          7  together, but it happens.

          8                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER LEIGHTON: I

          9  mean, we need to work with FDA and --

         10                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: And see that it

         11  doesn't happen.

         12                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER LEIGHTON: This

         13  is a relatively new thing that agencies, local and

         14  state agencies have been putting pressure on FDA to

         15  do this.

         16                 It has happened, but I think we

         17  should put pressure on them so it does not happen in

         18  the future.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: In the meantime,

         20  okay, what I'm trying to say here is we have to get

         21  on them about the wrapping that is presently coming

         22  in, okay, because that's something that they could

         23  do right away. You understand what I'm trying to

         24  say?

         25                 For us to put pressure on FDA,
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          2  they're not going to turn around tomorrow and do

          3  this. You've been working on this now for how many

          4  months?

          5                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER LEIGHTON: We

          6  started on litargirio over a year ago.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Over a year ago.

          8  But I'm saying we have to get on the wrapping issue

          9  of these manufacturers.

         10                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER LEIGHTON: I

         11  think that would probably be as difficult as it

         12  would be to get the lead out of the product, because

         13  the wrappers are produced by the companies in other

         14  locations, as well.

         15                 So, I think the more important thing

         16  would be to really focus on getting -- making sure

         17  there is no lead in the candy.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: All right. So,

         19  we'll all agree on that.

         20                 One last question for you; and that

         21  is, you said you reached out to that community

         22  group; where are they located in Brooklyn?

         23                 MS. NAGIN: They're sort of right at

         24  the Sunset Park/Park Slope area. Right at the edge

         25  of Park Slope.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Because I have a

          3  large Mexican population in my community, okay? And

          4  I would invite you down to reach out to my community

          5  also. If you have some flyers or information about

          6  this that we could dispense, I would greatly

          7  appreciate that and make it available to other

          8  Council members.

          9                 MS. NAGIN: Absolutely.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: And we would

         11  like to see what you have to hand out so we could

         12  also give this to the small businesses, because

         13  we're trying to educate them, because the candy

         14  brings in the mother, they spend money in my store,

         15  now you want to hurt my business. We're not here to

         16  hurt the business. We're here to help them and make

         17  them aware. So, if you have some literature or

         18  handouts that you are giving out to make them aware

         19  of this, I would like copies of that, or see if we

         20  could get some, and I'd like to talk to you about

         21  that.

         22                 Thank you very much.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Council Member

         24  Stewart.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: Thank you,
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          2  Madam Chair.

          3                 Doctor, you mentioned awhile ago that

          4  -- let me rephrase that. First of all, following up

          5  from Council Member Recchia's question, with these

          6  candies being wrapped in another country and being

          7  imported here, how do you know, unless you test

          8  these candies here, that they're contaminated?

          9                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER LEIGHTON:

         10  Actually, that's a good question. It really is.

         11                 We don't know. And we don't know

         12  because often the labeling is not adequate on these

         13  products, and that is the important thing and there

         14  are labeling requirements. FDA has labeling

         15  requirements.

         16                 The other thing is, because it's a

         17  contamination and not something added to the

         18  product, even if they have a label, they won't even

         19  know to test to see if there's lead in it. And

         20  that's a problem too.

         21                 So, to answer your question, there is

         22  no way to know, unless you test. The testing

         23  processes that we have now, as Deborah mentioned and

         24  as we mentioned in the testimony, are not quite

         25  adequate, they're not standarized enough so all
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          2  laboratories are really using the same methodology.

          3                 And there's a lot of pressure on FDA

          4  at this point to really come up with standardized

          5  methodology for doing these analyses, so we can know

          6  that we have accurate information when we do the lab

          7  testing.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: All right. I

          9  want to switch a little bit to the question of the

         10  botanicas that you find a lot of these things, or

         11  even the bodegas.

         12                 Based on culture and custom, there

         13  are other contaminants that may affect children,

         14  especially young children; for example, mercury. And

         15  I can tell you that in some of the customs, is that

         16  something called mercury, is not called mercury in

         17  those environments, in that community, it's called

         18  "quicksilver." And that quicksilver is used to,

         19  what we say, ward off or bless the child. They use

         20  it to mark on the forehead of a child, they do all

         21  these things. And you remember, mercury is not

         22  biodegradable, so it can eventually get into the

         23  carpet or get into the child's hand and then get

         24  into the mouth and then cause the same type of

         25  symptoms and signs, same type of destruction in a
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          2  child.

          3                 Is there any test or anything that we

          4  are doing, just as we are doing for lead that we're

          5  doing for mercury?

          6                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER LEIGHTON: You

          7  know, mercury is an issue that we've been working on

          8  for ten, 15 years actually. We've actually done

          9  investigations to see if they were selling mercury.

         10  Most of them don't seem to be selling mercury, but

         11  we recognize, and I think this is something we have

         12  to recognize with litargirio or other products, that

         13  if we come out and ban something, there's going to

         14  be an underground market for it. And, so, we need

         15  to, you know, balance that and really try to figure

         16  out how to both educate, and I think that's what

         17  Deborah was saying, educate and have regulation at

         18  the same time.

         19                 We've actually recently done a study

         20  to really try to understand what levels of mercury

         21  children have in their bodies.

         22                 We've worked on a study with the

         23  Center for Disease Control and they came up here to

         24  assist us in this project. We tested children in

         25  both Brooklyn and East Harlem, I believe, who may
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          2  have -- who considerably because of their ethnic

          3  group have some exposure to mercury.

          4                 At this point we are not finding

          5  elevated levels of mercury in children's urine. And

          6  we don't think it's a huge exposure problem, but

          7  there are clearly possibly pockets of people who may

          8  have mercury exposures.

          9                 But it doesn't seem to be a

         10  widespread thing in the City. And we have worked

         11  with, we produced a number of pamphlets, brochures,

         12  both for doctors and for the public on mercury, and

         13  how it's used in terms of Santaria and VooDooism and

         14  et cetera, so that's something we have worked on for

         15  many years, actually.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: Recently the

         17  Department of Health and Mental Health had done a

         18  test, in doing tests on these candies, and of 36 it

         19  was noted that 30 contained high levels of lead. And

         20  you said awhile ago it's only one.

         21                 Could you clarify that?

         22                 MS. NAGIN: Yes. When we initially did

         23  lab testing of 36 samples, we got sort of

         24  preliminary results because of the kind of testing

         25  that our lab was able to do.
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          2                 But we really saw them, in those

          3  preliminary results there were about 30 that were, I

          4  think it was 30 that were elevated and of concern,

          5  and that's when we sought the help of the New York

          6  State Agriculture & Markets.

          7                 Subsequent to that we actually did

          8  broader buying of products, and they helped us -- we

          9  eventually identified a lab who could do a special

         10  kind of testing, and in the end it ended up that one

         11  out of the 42 were elevated.

         12                 So, we initially did some screening

         13  and sort of a red light went off to say that there

         14  was some concern, but more definitive testing showed

         15  that at least at the 0.5 level. If the level

         16  dropped, we might get a different story, but at the

         17  0.5 level, only one of them was elevated.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: I have some

         19  concern there because if you take sampling of 36,

         20  and out of the 36 82 or 83 percent is elevated.

         21  You're telling me now that you do another sampling

         22  just from one out of 42?

         23                 I have some real grave concern that

         24  maybe all of the candy that is coming from wherever

         25  they're coming from, all of them, or 80 something
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          2  percent, or even let's say 50 percent may be

          3  contaminated.

          4                 If you're saying now it's only one

          5  out of 42 and you don't have that kind of concern, I

          6  have a problem because the first test that you did,

          7  82 percent was, your test, was found to be

          8  contaminated.

          9                 MS. NAGIN: I think that when we

         10  initially did this test, I know candy seemed like

         11  they should be easy, but it's complicated to do the

         12  analysis, and when we presented this information to

         13  FDA, they said you actually need to do a different,

         14  that that testing wasn't adequate to be accurate

         15  exactly. It was more of a screening kind of test.

         16                 And therefore we went to our New York

         17  State Ag & Markets to get some help in terms of

         18  doing better testing.

         19                 So, we were as surprised as you were,

         20  though we did think that so many of the products

         21  were so elevated that it wasn't clear, just based on

         22  what other cities were getting for the results, it

         23  made us think that we needed some help. So we went

         24  back to the experts, went to FDA to try to

         25  understand a little bit more about how to do this
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          2  testing, and then got help from Ag & Markets. So, we

          3  were as surprised as you were. In fact, you know, we

          4  needed to change the kind of testing technology that

          5  was able to get more accurate results.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: But I think

          7  you should do what we call a third opinion. Because

          8  the first one, very high. Second one somewhat low.

          9  You need to go back and do some more tests because

         10  I'm so much concerned that we might be allowing

         11  candies to slip through and go into, especially in

         12  October when kids are eating all different type of

         13  candies, and that may be causing the problem.

         14                 Having said that, with your last, you

         15  know the one out of 42, what are the tests that you

         16  envision that you're going to be taking again, so as

         17  to really get a true picture?

         18                 What are you going to do? What is the

         19  Department going to do to really, you know, focus on

         20  this problem?

         21                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER LEIGHTON: I

         22  think because we don't have the capacity to do such

         23  tests, and so we need to get others who have that

         24  capacity and who have that expertise to help us.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: Oh, I see.
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          2  What you're saying, the first type of testing, you

          3  were doing it without having the capacity to do it?

          4                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER LEIGHTON: That

          5  actually is correct.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: So your

          7  testing was not correct; is that what you're saying?

          8                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER LEIGHTON:

          9  That's why Deborah was saying it was preliminary

         10  screening tests. Because we don't use the same

         11  procedures, and there were no clear procedures out

         12  there where we were struggling with what we should

         13  be using. And so our laboratories were able to do

         14  some preliminary tests for us because we were as

         15  concerned as anyone was about the potential for

         16  candy with elevated lead in it.

         17                 But Agriculture & Markets is the

         18  State Department, and FDA, we spoke to California

         19  FDA, we spoke to another, many other agencies to

         20  find out how they were doing it, and they were able

         21  -- they had more capacity and more expertise to do

         22  this. And that's why I think we keep emphasizing

         23  that we're not in this alone. We need to work with

         24  these other agencies to be able to test accurately

         25  and so we understand there's an accurate procedure
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          2  for doing this testing.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: How do you

          4  compare to the testing that were done in California?

          5  How do we compare to them?

          6                 In other words, is it considered high

          7  -- you said the testing that we did, we only found

          8  one out of 42, their general testing in California,

          9  and to me, they have a big problem over there. Isn't

         10  it the same source the candies are coming from?

         11                 MS. NAGIN: It's absolutely the same

         12  source, we can't really -- I can't answer the

         13  question. You know, we could try to find out the

         14  answer, but I couldn't have done so much more

         15  testing than we have done, like over the years.

         16                 They absolutely -- I shouldn't even

         17  say absolutely, it's likely to be the same candies

         18  that are coming from California coming to New York.

         19  I don't know how they get distributed across the

         20  country. If that's the question you asked.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: Well, the

         22  problem I have here is that given the fact that the

         23  candies may be coming from the same source, same

         24  country. Given the fact that we have done testing,

         25  California has done testing. They have seen that
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          2  they have a problem, but you seem to give me the

          3  impression that the first testing was very good, and

          4  it wasn't that good, even though the results show

          5  that 30 out of 36. But we did another testing and it

          6  may be much more accurate, and it's only one out of

          7  42.

          8                 However, California had the problem,

          9  which I feel that we should have had the same type

         10  of problem, but you gave me the impression that

         11  there is not such a big problem in the one out of

         12  42.

         13                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER LEIGHTON: That

         14  was the testing that the Department of Ag & Markets

         15  gave us. They have more expertise. They sent it to a

         16  Chicago lab. That is the information that we got,

         17  and it's not going to stop us from continuing to

         18  look.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: Right.

         20                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER LEIGHTON: We

         21  will continue to look. We will continue to -- you

         22  know, it's the product that we are concerned about,

         23  and if there are products that people identify, we

         24  would be more than happy to work with Ag & Markets,

         25  to work with FDA, to test those products.
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          2                 You know, I don't want --

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: I just don't

          4  want to give the wrong impression that, listen, oh,

          5  it's only a few, and it only might be a few that are

          6  contaminated.

          7                 I believe that most of these candies

          8  that come in have the problem. Because if you look

          9  at what is happening in the other states and you

         10  compare it. I think it's the same type of candy. I

         11  think it's the same kind of problem we're going to

         12  have. And I think that we should look at it from

         13  that perspective.

         14                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER LEIGHTON: Yes,

         15  and that's very possible. Although, I just do want

         16  to emphasize again that Lucas company did recall all

         17  their candies that had the chili in it. And, so, if

         18  they're recalling their candies, hopefully they've

         19  made it so the new candies coming in don't have lead

         20  in it. That's what we really want to, you know, make

         21  sure about, and that's why we need to get FDA to be

         22  focusing on this problem so it doesn't get into New

         23  York City or it doesn't get into California.

         24                 But I'm not saying, and clearly we

         25  will continue to pursue it. This is not something
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          2  we're dropping, and we are supporting the whole

          3  concept as doing this. It's more in the -- you know,

          4  this is what was found when Ag & Markets did it. You

          5  know, that's all we're telling you, that's what was

          6  found.

          7                 Should I doubt their results? I have

          8  no reason to doubt it. They sent it to a reputable

          9  lab, from what I understand.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Okay.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: Thank you.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Simcha Felder.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: Thank you. I'm

         14  honored to be in the presence of Dr. Leighton,

         15  having worked together many years ago on a number of

         16  issues affecting people in the City.

         17                 I have an issue that relates to

         18  candy, not particularly this issue. So, I'm asking

         19  permission from Council Member Quinn, and Councilman

         20  Recchia, but without waiting for their permission,

         21  I'll just continue my questions.

         22                 The issue of safety, children, candy,

         23  slash, I've been interested in legislation where

         24  they sell candy, some of the candy looks like Lego

         25  toys. I don't know if you've ever seen? Very
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          2  interesting. They look like Lego toys that you can

          3  build with. Things similar to that. And they state

          4  clearly on the wrapper, it will say something like

          5  unsafe for children under three years old. Most of

          6  the stuff is imported from Canada, and the candy

          7  tastes good. I tried it. I'll try any candy in fact.

          8  But in terms of the safety issue, it's just bizarre

          9  to me, because if the stuff is laying around, first

         10  of all, when now our three-year-old is three year

         11  old, but when any of our kids were younger, they

         12  don't know the difference, and what's the point

         13  having something on a label that says unsafe for

         14  someone under three years of age.

         15                 So, it's a simple question, probably

         16  with a complicated answer that's not fair to take up

         17  your time at this hearing, because it's not what

         18  it's about. But I'm just asking as a personal favor

         19  if you can please look into this, and if you want

         20  I'll be happy to get you samples of the stuff for

         21  you to take and look at in the future. That's all.

         22                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER LEIGHTON: The

         23  only thing that I would want to respond to, I don't

         24  know all the laws related to this and why they put

         25  that on that specific candy. California does have a
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          2  Proposition 65, and there have been going around on

          3  the lead list serves that say that there are certain

          4  Christmas lights that have lead in it, and it's

          5  written on the package. Why is it written on the

          6  package is because Proposition 65 in California

          7  requires that anything that may have lead in it, or

          8  can have a contaminated, some unsafe contaminant on

          9  it, be labeled as such.

         10                 So, I don't really know the answer to

         11  your question, but, you know, that is something that

         12  there are certain labeling requirements and I don't

         13  know what fits into those labeling requirements in

         14  terms of that candy.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: The question I

         16  have really is whether we can outlaw them entirely?

         17                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER LEIGHTON: The

         18  candies?

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: Yes, exactly.

         20  Something that looks like a toy. You know, this is

         21  not candy -- everybody knows that you don't give a

         22  young child a sour ball or something like that.

         23  These candies that look like toys.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: I think the issue

         25  isn't necessarily on lead, it's on the idea of
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          2  you're almost promoting children to eat their Legos,

          3  which is a dangerous thing. And I think it's

          4  something we should try to think about.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: I'll get you a

          6  sample.

          7                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER LEIGHTON:

          8  Well, we can also look into some of the other

          9  regulations that are from a federal, state and local

         10  point of view that may relate to that.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: Thank you.

         12                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER LEIGHTON: We'd

         13  be glad to do that as well.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: And also, we'll

         15  have the staff look into it to see if there is

         16  anything that they uncovered.

         17                 Thank you. And we will be definitely

         18  following up.

         19                 We're now going to call up our next

         20  panel, which is our last panel. Matt Chechere, from

         21  the New York City Coalition to End Lead Poisoning,

         22  and President of the Northern Manhattan Improvement

         23  Corp. Maria Castro, President of the Manhattan

         24  Hispanic Chamber of Commerce. Dr. Nathan Graber,

         25  fellow of Pediatric Environmental Health at Mount
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          2  Sinai School of Medicine. Adela Dalto, also from the

          3  Hispanic -- I was going to say Manhattan Hispanic

          4  Chamber of Commerce. I definitely couldn't say that

          5  ten times fast. And Rosario De Pretti, also from the

          6  Manhattan Hispanic Chamber of Commerce. And if folks

          7  would just come right over here and take a seat,

          8  please, that would be great.

          9                 And Matt, why don't you go first.

         10                 MR. CHECHERE: Is this on? Yes.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Yes. Either that

         12  or you have a really good set of pipes there. Go

         13  ahead.

         14                 MR. CHECHERE: First of all, I didn't

         15  sign up to testify, so I'm actually surprised to see

         16  that I was called --

         17                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: I'm sorry, what

         18  did you say?

         19                 MR. CHECHERE: I said I didn't sign up

         20  to testify. I just came to watch.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Oh, I apologize.

         22                 MR. CHECHERE: But since I'm here,

         23  I'll say one or two things.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: What the heck,

         25  yes.
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          2                 MR. CHECHERE: And second of all, let

          3  me correct you. I'm not the President of Northern

          4  Manhattan Improvement Corporation. And I'm not here

          5  in the capacity pre se of representing the Coalition

          6  on Lead Poisoning, because I haven't really

          7  discussed this.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Just hang on for

          9  one second. If people could keep it down. I also

         10  want to say we've been joined by Council Member

         11  David Weprin of Queens, the Chair of our Finance

         12  Committee.

         13                 MR. CHECHERE: But since you did ask

         14  me to speak, I'll just say two thoughts just looking

         15  at this bill. And I haven't really discussed this

         16  with folks in detail, but one concern is in the

         17  findings and intent it says that high levels of lead

         18  poisoning are linked to adverse health impacts on

         19  children, and I think it was pretty well

         20  demonstrated in the testimony last year in the

         21  debate over Intro. 101-A, that basically any amount

         22  of lead ingestion causes permanent irreparable

         23  damage in children, and I think we all would strive

         24  to prevent children from ingesting any amount of

         25  lead.
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          2                 As I said, I got here late. I didn't

          3  hear all the testimony before. I understand that the

          4  Health Department found that only one out of 42 of

          5  the candies examined actually had something of

          6  elevated lead in it, and I want to analyze this a

          7  little more carefully. I know that having worked on

          8  this issue for many years from the housing

          9  perspective, all I ever heard from the real estate

         10  people was it's not lead paint in buildings, it's

         11  candy. So, it's interesting just to see that the

         12  problem does seem to be much more of a housing issue

         13  than a candy issue. But obviously anything that

         14  eliminates children's exposure to lead is something

         15  that I'm sure we would support.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Thank you. And

         17  sorry for the confusion, and we'll make sure you get

         18  copies of all of the materials and look forward to

         19  having conversations as we move forward with this

         20  issue.

         21                 MR. CHECHERE: Thank you.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: I don't know if

         23  Dr. Graber wants to go next. Why don't we go with

         24  the Chamber of Commerce and then the doctor can go

         25  after that, if that's okay.
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          2                 Go ahead. Whoever from the Chamber

          3  would like to speak.

          4                 MS. CASTRO: Good afternoon, Honorable

          5  Quinn, Honorable members of the panel. My name is

          6  Maria Castro. I'm the President of the Manhattan

          7  Hispanic Chamber of Commerce. I'm also the Second

          8  Vice Chair of the East Harlem Board of Tourism, a

          9  board member. It's a small business services

         10  minority and women business advisory board, and a

         11  member of the Immigration Subcommittee of the

         12  Central Labor Council, Commission on the Dignity of

         13  Immigrants, all of which have bestowed upon me the

         14  honor and responsibility of seeking the best

         15  interests of the Hispanic immigrant and minority

         16  community members. And as such I have come to offer

         17  testimony in support of Resolution No. 396, a local

         18  law to amend the Administrative Code, City of New

         19  York, in relation to banning the sale of certain

         20  substances containing lead.

         21                 Also with me today is Ms. Rosario

         22  DePretti, to my left, a member at the MHCC. And Ms.

         23  Adela Dalto, to my right, also a member of the MHCC.

         24                 I thank you for the opportunity to

         25  present our position in supporting Resolution No.
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          2  396. Thereby on behalf of Andre Puerta, Mr. Hector

          3  Santana, Ms. Evette Zayas, District Leader 68 AD

          4  Part A in East Harlem, Mr. Rick Miranda, a business

          5  owner in Sunset Park, Brooklyn, Mr. Olaf Olsen,

          6  labor leader, Dock Builders, Local 1456, Ms. Erika

          7  Hertell, Ms. Adela Dalto and the members of the

          8  Executive Board of Directors of Manhattan Hispanic

          9  Chamber of Commerce, let it be known that the

         10  testimony herein offered is of --

         11                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Ms. Castro --

         12                 MS. CASTRO: I'm sorry. It's my first

         13  time.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: That's okay. Your

         15  testimony is going to be very helpful, it's a little

         16  long. Since it's eight pages. Or maybe you could all

         17  just summarize it.

         18                 MS. CASTRO: Okay, thank you.

         19                 So we're here to offer, as it is an

         20  integral part of our mission, that in order to

         21  empower our communities economically, we need to

         22  place them, and that is our business at the

         23  Manhattan Hispanic Chamber of Commerce.

         24                 I also want to say that it is

         25  important to the small business moms and pops,
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          2  particularly the bodegas and the new version of the

          3  widely known general stores, to understand that they

          4  are the icons of trust in their communities and they

          5  have to carry products and produce that is not a

          6  threat to health of their clients, resulting in an

          7  increase in solid earnings once they earned their

          8  clients' trust and respect.

          9                 Our community is suffering from this.

         10  More to the testimony of this, to my disbelief and

         11  probably the disbelief of many here today, last

         12  night on my way home I stopped at a grocery store

         13  located at 116th Street, ironically right across the

         14  street from a District Council Office of I believe

         15  Council Member Reed, in East Harlem, and for less

         16  than a dollar I was able to purchase candy that's

         17  similar to the ones you presented, more so with

         18  something that looks like a tainted version that

         19  I'll leave with you.

         20                 In support of what the Honorable

         21  Quinn said, this is really a promptness to having

         22  your children eat their toys, because you're

         23  basically -- besides the lollipop, you know, eat the

         24  plastic, you know, you're on disarray.

         25                 It's a non-controlled substance, and
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          2  it's not only being abused, not only uncontrolled,

          3  but you do not need proof of age to purchase it. You

          4  do not need a lot of money. So, to us it goes

          5  hand-in-hand with the drugs.

          6                 It also has appealing products.

          7  Colors, names. CHACA, CHACA, for example, it

          8  replicated the sound of a train in Spanish (in

          9  Spanish). It sounds really cool. It's a marketing

         10  technique that sticks to our children, Hispanic

         11  children, like Chiclets stuck to the American public

         12  and the public around the world.

         13                 You know, it's hard. We're harming

         14  the future of our business leaders, business leaders

         15  of the future of this great City.

         16                 And I don't want to go over the harm

         17  that we have prepared. There are tainted products.

         18  We have a list of them, such as Bolitoches Mango,

         19  Pelon Rico, CHACA CHACA, Vero Mango, Super

         20  Palerindas lollipops and Tamarind.

         21                 Additionally, one of the -- the most

         22  mind-boggling is the use of folk remedies that are

         23  widely used by the Hispanic community, like Greta

         24  along with Litargirio, which is used as a fungicide

         25  powder and it may be part of a household product and
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          2  airborne, as someone here testified earlier. And

          3  also Tamarind, which is a fruit. I found some of the

          4  pulp being sold in my local store in Jackson

          5  Heights, Queens in a frozen form. Of course, whether

          6  it was tested or not without any warning, just for a

          7  few dollars. It's still in my freezer, actually.

          8                 I don't want to go into the dangers

          9  of lead because everybody knows where there have

         10  been, and basically I would turn this over to Ms.

         11  Deplaso (phonetic), to give you a little bit on the

         12  findings that we've done over our long testimony.

         13                 MS. DEPLASO: Well, thank you. I am

         14  happy to be here. I represent actually the

         15  Mexican-American community. I, being born here, and

         16  most of these children are Mexican-American, and

         17  their attraction to chili and sweet candies, but, of

         18  course, we need to make them aware. And I was

         19  listening earlier on ways that we could reach out

         20  and I would definitely, you know, volunteer to help

         21  in whatever way we can to reach out to these

         22  communities and let them know.  You know, these

         23  findings that I, myself, am just learning, as a

         24  child being raised in Texas and going to Mexico many

         25  times, we were always warned about not buying the
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          2  clay pasta, not buying candy, certain candies

          3  because of the lead poisoning, and it's many, many

          4  years and this is still going on. So, I'd be glad to

          5  help in any way I can.

          6                 Some of the findings you all have

          7  already heard, but I'll just repeat just a couple of

          8  them, and that is 90 percent of lead cases are

          9  attributed by minority children. Thirty percent of

         10  them are amongst Hispanic children, making the

         11  Latino children population a primary target. Of

         12  course, this is why we're here.

         13                 In California alone, 75 percent of

         14  lead poisonings are Latino children. At least 15

         15  percent of the children in California who were

         16  poisoned by lead have eaten Mexican candy.

         17  Approximately 3,000 children in the past three

         18  years.

         19                 The US Center of Disease Control and

         20  Prevention estimates that nationwide 434,000

         21  children, ages one to five, are lead poisoned.

         22                 The candy gets contaminated during

         23  the production process, when dirt is inadvertently

         24  mixed into chili powder or tamarind paste in stored

         25  clay pots glazed with lead, and the clay pots glazed
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          2  with lead, this has been going on for so many years,

          3  it's unbelievable that it still goes on.

          4                 In 1994, investigators suspected that

          5  the Pelon Pelon Rico poisoned two children in Los

          6  Angeles. Then, in 1999 it turned up in connection

          7  with a lead poisoned San Joaquin County child. To

          8  date, no action has been taken against the maker of

          9  Pelon Pelon Rico.

         10                 Ten of Mexico's biggest candy makers

         11  with brand names such as Montes Tomy, Limon 7 and

         12  Pico Diana, have been repeatedly high tested for

         13  lead and have not faced federal or State sanctions.

         14  One candy, Lucas Limon tested high seven times out

         15  of seven tests in federal labs.

         16                 So, I can continue. There is a long

         17  list here and you have been hearing them. And, so,

         18  of course we're here to support you all in passing

         19  some kind of legislature to control the import of

         20  these candies. And other means, you know, of lead

         21  poisoning.

         22                 MS. CASTRO: We will continue with Ms.

         23  DePretti, who will give us her testimony.

         24                 MS. DePRETTI: Thank you very much for

         25  this opportunity.

                                                            67

          1  HEALTH AND SMALL BUSINESS

          2                 We are here because we care about our

          3  children. We are also here because as members of the

          4  Manhattan Hispanic Chamber of Commerce, we want to

          5  protect all our members from any eventuality of

          6  tragedy, and that includes, of course, the loss of

          7  life, the dangers that are involved with lead

          8  poisoning in children's life, especially knowing all

          9  the effects of lead poisoning.

         10                 There is really no justification for

         11  children being poisoned with candy. And New York

         12  City does not need a Snow White to become the next

         13  reality show. This is how we feel strongly about it.

         14                 A group of health care workers and

         15  regulators tries to protect our children from lead.

         16  Yet, this is one of the forefronts where it is being

         17  violated.

         18                 We are actually having our children

         19  subject to this, and we need to put a stop to it.

         20                 As part of the Manhattan Chamber of

         21  Commerce, we are here to bring this to the attention

         22  and to the forefront. We want to ensure that these

         23  practices are stopped until a regulation can come

         24  about where these processes and procedures can be

         25  monitored and deemed safe for the benefit of our

                                                            68

          1  HEALTH AND SMALL BUSINESS

          2  children, as well as all the business owners, who

          3  sell this type of product.

          4                 If it's killing our kids, candy

          5  should no longer be an issue. The banning of these

          6  candies with lead contents are imported from Mexico,

          7  Dominican Republic and other Latin-American

          8  countries. We are here because we think we should be

          9  health conscious, and not culturally insensitive. We

         10  understand that culture is important, but culture

         11  without safety will not work for us.

         12                 We need to inform the public and make

         13  them aware of the dire need for this regulation,

         14  and, therefore, to bring about proactive measures to

         15  ensure the safety of our community.

         16                 We are here to support the approval

         17  of this resolution so we can increase the

         18  enforcement and demand zero tolerance, and that is

         19  the purpose of our being here today.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Thank you very

         21  much. And I just want to thank the Chamber for

         22  joining us before the hearing at a press conference

         23  we had. And as I said before, I think it was a

         24  successful press conference for a number of reasons.

         25  In particular, there was a lot of Spanish people and
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          2  media there, and anything that helps get more

          3  information about, out there about these products

          4  between now and when we're able to do legislation, I

          5  think is very helpful. And I think your presentation

          6  certainly was one of the things that drew the media

          7  to the press conference. So, thank you very much.

          8                 Doctor. And you should feel free also

          9  to sum up your testimony because the staff -- it

         10  will be part of the record in full, and also the

         11  staff will use it as we move forward on future

         12  drafts.

         13                 Just identify yourself, though, when

         14  you begin testifying.

         15                 DR. GRABER: I'm Nathan Graber. I'm a

         16  pediatrician and I'm a fellow in Pediatric

         17  Environmental Health at Mount Sinai School of

         18  Medicine.

         19                 I am currently training under Dr.

         20  Philip Landrigan, who has years of experience in

         21  research and advocacy on issues of childhood lead

         22  poisoning.

         23                 Thank you, Chairpersons Quinn and

         24  Recchia for allowing me to speak this afternoon, and

         25  our members of the Council.
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          2                 I'm going to keep it short because I

          3  think we all sort of agree on most of the issues

          4  that I've mentioned in my testimony. We agree that

          5  lead is bad, and we agree that lead poisoning is

          6  still an issue in New York City, and that Health

          7  Departments need to remain vigilant of new and

          8  previously unidentified sources of lead poisoning

          9  for our children.

         10                 Now, when I read Intro. 396, I was

         11  initially, you know, oh, this is a great law. I was

         12  trying to think of how we can possibly improve on a

         13  law that bans products that contain lead, and this

         14  past Sunday I was sitting with my son, who was at a

         15  Hanukkah party and they give out these little gold

         16  foil-covered chocolate coins, and I was watching

         17  him, he couldn't open it. He's only two years old,

         18  he couldn't open it himself. So, what he did was he

         19  took the whole thing with the wrapper and everything

         20  and put it in his mouth. He chewed on it, sucked all

         21  the chocolate out, licked the wrapper clean and then

         22  put the wrapper in my pocket. And it hit me, and

         23  what hit me was is that in the report from the

         24  Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, what

         25  they had mentioned was is that the source of the
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          2  lead for these candies, one of the possible sources

          3  is that the wrappers themselves contain lead.

          4                 For centuries -- that was Chairperson

          5  Recchia's point, yes. So, the point is, is that for

          6  centuries lead has been used as a pigment in dies

          7  and paints, and in this case it's used to color the

          8  wrappers. And in these cases they had tested the

          9  wrappers and found that there were elevated levels

         10  of lead in the wrappers and also in the lollipop

         11  sticks. And, so, after seeing my son do this, I

         12  thought, okay, this is one way we can improve this

         13  legislation is to add on any foods that are packaged

         14  in lead-containing wrappers or lead-containing

         15  materials, and I thought that would be a good

         16  suggestion for the Council to consider.

         17                 The next thing that I would --

         18                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: We're definitely

         19  going to take a look into that, into adding that in.

         20  Thank you.

         21                 DR. GRABER: And I can provide

         22  references for you.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: The report that

         24  you have given us you'll copy for us?

         25                 DR. GRABER: You can keep this one, if
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          2  you'd like.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: The Sergeant will

          4  come and take it from you. Thank you.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Thank you very

          6  much.

          7                 DR. GRABER: You're welcome.

          8                 And then the additional point that I

          9  was considering was that this law is only banning

         10  the sale of litargirio, which is one of many

         11  alternative or folk remedies with the potential of

         12  containing lead. And at the end of my testimony, I

         13  included a complete list of all the currently known

         14  alternative or folk remedies that may contain lead.

         15                 Now, everything that is listed there

         16  doesn't definitely contain lead, but there is a

         17  possibility for contamination, and I took that list

         18  from case reports over the years that have been

         19  collected.

         20                 And the root of exposure for

         21  litargirio, just to add something, is not

         22  necessarily direct absorption through the skin. It's

         23  used as a deodorant, on burns or as a foot powder,

         24  and it's not really that easily absorbed through the

         25  skin, however, the issue arises that once that lead
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          2  powder gets onto a floor, a piece of furniture, or

          3  is directly handled by a child, that the children

          4  will then put their fingers, hands, toys in their

          5  mouths and that will get the lead into the body. And

          6  from the gastrointestinal tract lead is very rapidly

          7  and readily absorbed, especially when it's in a

          8  powder form, such as litargirio.

          9                 So, I ask that you consider

         10  additional sources of alternative or folk remedies

         11  in the legislation. And also consider foods that are

         12  packaged in materials which have the potential of

         13  containing lead, and if we can be of any further

         14  assistance to you, please call upon us to provide

         15  any resources.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Thank you very

         17  much. We will definitely do that.

         18                 Does anyone have any questions for

         19  any of the panel?

         20                 Council Member Palma.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER PALMA: Hi. Good

         22  afternoon. You represent Manhattan Chamber of

         23  Commerce?

         24                 MS. CASTRO: That is correct.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER PALMA: What are the

                                                            74

          1  HEALTH AND SMALL BUSINESS

          2  businesses doing in terms of keeping these candies

          3  out of the stores and out of the neighborhoods? I

          4  think this is the first step in creating some sort

          5  of legislation to work with the Department of Health

          6  and the FDA to make sure they don't come into I

          7  guess our cities or come from wherever they are

          8  coming from, from other countries. But are any of

          9  the businesses taking responsibility in making sure

         10  that these candies are not accessible to our

         11  communities?

         12                 MS. CASTRO: Well, Councilperson

         13  Reyna, no. Actually what happens is that, just last

         14  night, ten o'clock, 116th Street, right off the

         15  train, go there, stop by, said, "Do you have candy

         16  from Mexico?" And the woman just has a tray. She

         17  points out, which one do you want? So, I already

         18  have a list and I said I want Pelon Rico. She goes,

         19  oh, it's here, 50 cents. And this one is this and

         20  what you have there. I think that she's unaware. I

         21  think that this woman is unaware that she's selling

         22  poison to our children. I think she's unaware of the

         23  repercussions to her business, to her livelihood. If

         24  there is a lawsuit pending, and if I was an

         25  investigator working for an attorney of a child that
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          2  would have been contaminated with the substances, I

          3  mean small businesses are hurting as is. Insurance

          4  is a big problem for small businesses, PL insurance,

          5  public liability insurance for these businesses, and

          6  they're totally unaware.

          7                 I think it is going to have to be --

          8  you know, but we would need legislation. We would

          9  need to come back after enforcement, because we're

         10  not a policing body. We're not a legislative body.

         11  We're just there to propel the economic development.

         12  So, once this is passed, and we are here to support

         13  it passed, to see it passed, then we can go back,

         14  and then we can go to the media, then we can go to

         15  our members, all 267 and whatever we have, and say,

         16  well, this is what we're doing and this is where

         17  we're going to be.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: What we would

         19  like to do is the Small Business Committee, we would

         20  like to meet with you, maybe set up a meeting to see

         21  how we could get out the word to your citizens.

         22  Maybe see what Department of Health did with a

         23  flyer, and give them to all Council members to give

         24  out in their community. So, we'll get your number

         25  and we'll set up a meeting after this and we'll move
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          2  forward from this.

          3                 MS. CASTRO: So that it's a

          4  collaborative affair.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Exactly.

          6                 MS. CASTRO: Well, we're there, so

          7  please count on us.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Any more

          9  questions?

         10                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Council Member

         11  Stewart, did you have a question?

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: I basically

         13  wanted to know, with this list of all these things

         14  that come from different parts of the world, if

         15  there is any restriction in these things coming into

         16  this country, because if someone can bring in a

         17  remedy for, let's say for stomach gripes for babies

         18  and it's not stopped right there, and that contain

         19  lead, that's in itself a big problem because of the

         20  culture, because of where you're coming from. And

         21  this might be just a sample of the different things

         22  that may contain lead, and other ingredients that

         23  may be harmful to our children.

         24                 I'm saying basically, do you know of

         25  any laws or rules that prevents these, I would say
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          2  products, from coming into the country?

          3                 DR. GRABER: I'm not a legal person,

          4  but I'll tell you that from my experience as a

          5  physician what we've come across; and that is, that

          6  the FDA currently doesn't regulate alternative

          7  medications. They can be sold, they just cannot be

          8  prescribed for a specific ailment.

          9                 And in other countries, such as in

         10  Germany, the federal government has set up a whole

         11  sort of, just like our FDA, a way of regulating,

         12  standardizing these alternative medications so that

         13  they can't contain contaminants such as lead. And

         14  you had spoken earlier about mercury, we don't have

         15  that in this country.

         16                 But from my experience as a

         17  physician, you know, the patients will come, having

         18  taken these remedies, not that they were purchased

         19  through a store or through a pharmacy, but a

         20  relative or a family friend brought them over, you

         21  know, in their suitcase, you know, with them from

         22  another country, and that's been our experience and

         23  that's been something that's very difficult to

         24  regulate.

         25                 But as physicians, I think the
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          2  importance of having a law such as this that

          3  mentions a lot of the remedies, folk remedies, is

          4  that it brings the attention to the physicians, in

          5  that they need to ask their patients, you know, are

          6  you giving them any folk remedies, and then go back

          7  to a list such as this and say, oh, that folk remedy

          8  might contain lead, which could worsen their --

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: The evidence

         10  I see here is that we have, in quite a number of our

         11  communities, the quote/unquote health food stores,

         12  and basically what it is is that we have stores that

         13  sell not only health food, but also non-prescription

         14  items which are being used and recommended by the

         15  folks who run these stores. And not knowing, they

         16  may not know the ingredients of some of these

         17  products. And I can, you know, I can see plainly

         18  that some of these things that you have listed here

         19  could be labeled or named, have a different name

         20  being sold in some of these stores, just because you

         21  don't need a prescription to get it, or just because

         22  there is no scientific way of saying that they will

         23  do or they can help you in any form in terms of

         24  medicine.

         25                 The fact is, they are being used.
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          2  Whether it's as something that you ingest or

          3  something that you may use physically. The fact is

          4  basically we don't know. And we can have, I think we

          5  may have a bigger problem than we have just

          6  scratched.

          7                 If we start investigating some of

          8  these stores, we may find that a lot of products,

          9  because these stores sell from nuts to soup,

         10  whatever, just because you don't need a

         11  prescription, somebody may recommend something and

         12  as long as they can have that there, you can get it.

         13                 MS. DePRETTI: I would just like to

         14  say that, of course, we can hear all these stories

         15  and go after stores with it, but the most important

         16  thing is awareness.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: Right.

         18                 MS. DePRETTI: I think that's the most

         19  important thing, that we need to come up with some

         20  kind of list of products, make people aware what

         21  these products are in the different communities,

         22  across the different cultures and the awareness is

         23  going to help us I think most quickly. Because to

         24  pass legislation on this and that, they ought to

         25  take a lot of investigation, but I think a couple of
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          2  pieces of paper with some facts and distribute it

          3  among organizations that we have so many of, I think

          4  we could do a good share of our own awareness to the

          5  community out there.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: What we're going

          7  to do is we're going to set up a meeting to

          8  follow-up with this and, you know, see where we move

          9  forward.

         10                 Any more questions?

         11                 I want to thank everyone for coming

         12  today. Before we conclude, I just want to say two

         13  things. Today is, like Ms. Quinn said, the final

         14  hearing before the Council breaks, and we would

         15  just, first of all, like to say a special good-bye

         16  to Desiree. I know you've been around for a long

         17  time. This is your last hearing. We want to thank

         18  you for all of your support. It was a pleasure

         19  working with you, and we wish you luck in your

         20  future endeavors, and you will be missed.

         21                 Second, I would just like to say that

         22  today is, my attorney from my Committee on Small

         23  Business, where is Chris? Stand up. It's his last

         24  hearing with me today. I just want to thank you and

         25  wish you luck in the law firm that you go to. May
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          2  you make many, many years of happiness and money and

          3  guilt to keep you happy.

          4                 I just want to wish the best of you

          5  the best of luck, and we want to thank you from the

          6  bottom of our hearts.

          7                 This meeting is adjourned.

          8                 (Hearing concluded at 3:42 p.m.)

          9

         10

         11

         12

         13

         14

         15

         16

         17

         18

         19

         20

         21

         22

         23

         24

         25

                                                            82

          1

          2              CERTIFICATION

          3

          4

          5     STATE OF NEW YORK   )

          6     COUNTY OF NEW YORK  )

          7

          8

          9                 I, CINDY MILLELOT, a Certified

         10  Shorthand Reporter and Notary Public in and for the

         11  State of New York, do hereby certify that the

         12  foregoing is a true and accurate transcript of the

         13  within proceeding.

         14                 I further certify that I am not

         15  related to any of the parties to this action by

         16  blood or marriage, and that I am in no way

         17  interested in the outcome of this matter.

         18                 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto

         19  set my hand this 14th day of December 2004.

         20

         21

         22

         23

         24

                                   ---------------------

         25                          CINDY MILLELOT, CSR.

                                                            83

          1

          2             C E R T I F I C A T I O N

          3

          4

          5

          6

          7

          8

          9            I, CINDY MILLELOT, a Certified Shorthand

         10  Reporter and a Notary Public in and for the State of

         11  New York, do hereby certify the aforesaid to be a

         12  true and accurate copy of the transcription of the

         13  audio tapes of this hearing.

         14

         15

         16

         17

         18

         19

         20

         21

         22

         23

         24                 -----------------------

                              CINDY MILLELOT, CSR.

         25

